See discussions, stats, and author profiles for this publication at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/312918924

Foreign Language Anxiety

Book	· January 2016				
CITATION 0	IS	READS 1,917			
1 auth	ior:				
	Zdena Kráľová Constantine the Philosopher University in Nitra - Univerzita Konšt 31 PUBLICATIONS 17 CITATIONS SEE PROFILE	tantína Filozofa v Nitre			
Some of the authors of this publication are also working on these related projects:					
Project	foreign language pronunciation/speaking anxiety View project				
Project	Slovak-English phonic interference View project				

Foreign Language Anxiety

Zdena Kráľová

Foreign Language Anxiety

Zdena Kráľová

Reviewers:

prof. PhDr. Eva Malá, CSc.

doc. PhDr. Magdaléna Bilá, PhD.

Constantine the Philosopher University in Nitra, Slovakia

ISBN 978-80-558-1125-3 EAN 9788055811253

Z. Kráľová	Foreign Language Anxiety	2016

Contents

	Introduction	1
1	The Characteristics of Foreign Language Anxiety	3
1.1	The Definition and Classification of Anxiety	3
1.2	The Causes of Foreign Language Anxiety	6
1.3	The Factors of Foreign Language Anxiety	9
1.4	The Consequences of Foreign Language Anxiety	19
2	The Research of Foreign Language Anxiety	22
3	The Subtypes of Foreign Language Anxiety	33
3.1	Skills-Based Foreign Language Anxiety	33
3.2	Systems-Based Foreign Language Anxiety	36
4	Foreign Language Anxiety Coping Strategies	41
4.1	Teaching Strategies	45
4.2	Learning Strategies	54
4.3	Intervention Strategies	57
	Conclusions	61
	Index	63
	References	65

Introduction

"Minds without emotions are not really minds at all." (LeDoux, 1996)

The fact that some learners are more successful at acquiring a **foreign language** than others even though the circumstances of their learning are almost identical has led to investigations of individual characteristics as predictors of successful foreign language learning, most of them agreeing with the following categories (Olivares-Cuhat, 2010):

- a) cognitive factors (e.g., language aptitude, learning strategies);
- b) affective factors (e.g., attitudes, motivation, anxiety);
- c) metacognitive factors;
- d) demographic factors.

Researchers had to accept the fact that personality traits such as self-esteem, inhibition, anxiety, risk-taking and extraversion, may well shape the ultimate success in mastering a foreign language (Dörney, 2005). As there is a growing acceptance of learners' feelings and reflections in the learning process within the **foreign language teaching and learning** community, one of the most highly examined variables in the field of foreign language learning is the **foreign language anxiety** (FLA), sometimes called also the second language anxiety (Horwitz, 2001).

There is a great deal of research focusing on FLA which is necessarily interdisciplinary as FLA is rather a multi-

dimensional and multifactorial construct representing human complexity. Though it is widely recognised as a mental block against foreign language learning and conceived as an obvious factor in foreign language learning, yet there are many inconsistent conclusions.

The differences between studies over several decades in design and methodology and the complexity of individual differences in foreign language learning, have led to the limited amount of research findings about the influence of various factors on foreign language learning that could be generalized (Ehrman, Leaver, & Oxford, 2003).

Therefore, the purpose of this book is to summarize the most relevant information and research findings on FLA from the very beginning of its study in 1970s up to the present day and to introduce FLA to a general audience of researchers, learners and teachers who are interested in this multi-faceted phenomenon.

1The Characteristics of Foreign Language Anxiety

"Wealth is the ability to fully experience life."

(Henry David Thoreau)

1.1 The Definition and Classification of Anxiety

Anxiety can be defined as a mental and physical state characterized by specific emotional, physical, cognitive and behavioral symptoms. It is an **adaptive reaction** which mobilizes the organism and helps it defend, attact or avoid an anxiety stimulus. The stimulus can be a previous extenal or internal **antecedent** or trigger. To state the definite causes of anxiety can be rather complicated as it is influenced by many factors – biological, psychological, social or other (Doubek, & Anders, 2013).

Spielberger (1972, p. 482) defines anxiety as "an unpleasant emotional state or condition which is characterized by subjective feelings of tension, apprehension, nervousness, and worry". Scovel (1991, p. 18) further states, that "anxiety is a psychological construct, commonly described by psychologists as a state of apprehension, a vague fear that is only indirectly associated with an object".

When anxiety is limited just to a specific situation, such as using a foreign language, we use the term **specific anxiety**. On the other hand, the term **general anxiety** is used with those who are generally anxious in various situations (Horwitz, Horwitz, & Cope, 1986).

Traditional psychological classification of anxiety types (Horwitz, 2001) distinguishes anxiety of people who

are generally anxious in a variety of situations (**trait anxiety**) from those who are anxious only in specific situations (**state anxiety**). Trait anxiety is a relatively stable personality characteristics (Scovel, 1978) while state anxiety is a temporary response to a particular stimulus (Spielberger, 1983).

Anxiety when associated with learning a foreign language is termed as "**second/foreign language anxiety**" related to the negative emotional reactions of the learners towards foreign language acquisition (Horwitz, 2001). FLA is generally viewed as a complex and multi-dimensional phenomenon of self-perceptions, beliefs, feelings and behaviors related to foreign language learning (Horwitz, Horwitz, & Cope, 1986).

There are two approaches to identifying foreign language anxiety (Horwitz, & Young, 1991):

- 1. **transfer approach** where FLA is viewed as a manifestation of other forms of anxiety;
- 2. **unique approach** where foreign language achievement is correlated with FLA but not with other types of anxiety.

FLA can be viewed both as a stable characteristic trait and the temporary state caused by various factors. The classical study of Horwitz, Horwitz, & Cope (1986) introduced a construct of FLA as a **situation-specific anxiety** aroused by a specific type of situation or event (MacIntyre, & Gardner, 1991).

Two approaches to the description of FLA can thus be distinguished:

- The broader construct of anxiety as a basic human emotion that may be brought on by numerous combinations of situational factors (McIntyre, & Gardner, 1989; McIntyre, 1995).
- 2. A combination of other anxieties that create a separate form of anxiety intrinsic to language learning (Horwitz, Horwitz, & Cope, 1986).

Two models of FLA emerged from Tobias's (1986) research:

- 1. an interference retrieval model,
- 2. an interference model of anxiety,

An interference retrieval model relates to anxiety as inhibiting the recall of previously learned material at the output stage, whereas the interference model is a skills deficit model. It relates to problems at the input and processing stages of learning as a result of poor study habits, or a lack of knowledge. The research in foreign language learning has provided support for both models (e.g., MacIntyre, & Gardner, 1994; Onwuegbuzie, Bailey, & Daley, 2000).

1.2 The Causes of Foreign Language Anxiety

When understanding the **cause** as something that produces an effect and the **factor** as something that contributes to the production of an effect (Merriam-Webster Thesaurus) we should deal with the primary causes and influencing factors of FLA separately, though they are often confused and used as synonyms in literature.

In a situation perceived as threatening and beyond one's ability to deal with the threat, anxiety is a natural consequence. Guiora (1983) said that foreign language learning itself is a "profoundly unsettling psychological proposition" (p. 8) because it threatens learner's **self-concepts** and world-concepts which are rarely challenged when communicating in a native language.

Learners' **self-expression** is limited by their imperfect command of a foreign language. Inability to present oneself according to one's **self-image** can set a learner into the cycle of negative **self-evaluation** as language and the self are intimately bound. Probably no other field of study implicates such a disparity between the "true self" and the "limited self" as foreign language learning (Horwitz, Horwitz, & Cope, 1986).

Most of foreign language learners report strong speaking anxiety and indicate their inadequate speaking ability as the strongest barrier in foreign language communication (Bilá, 2013). They were afraid of being ridiculed and not accepted as an authority by their students. Speaking in a foreign language is often sensed as

a "threat to peoples' self-concept, **self-identity**, and **ego**, which they have formed in their first language as reasonable and intelligent individuals" (Horwitz, Horwitz, & Cope, 1986).

According to Bennett (1998), when our internal and consistent beliefs are threatened by any external stimulus, we activate our defense mechanisms to overcome such a "cognitive inconsistency" and foreign language learning inevitably requires learners to go through constant change or reconstruction.

The starting point of the "chicken and egg" discussion about the causal relationship of the FLA and **foreign language achievement** was the article of Sparks, & Ganschow (1991). They viewed FLA as a natural result of difficulty and poor achievement in foreign language learning.

On the other hand MacIntyre (1995) states that FLA anxiety is a well-established impediment to learning of all types. The debate whether anxiety is a cause or a consequence of poor language command has continued and still continues (see Chapter 2 – The research of Foreign Language Anxiety).

Nevertheless, it cannot be definitely stated so far whether the self-perceived unsatisfactory level of **foreign language competence** (the knowledge and the ability to use a foreign language) leads to FLA or FLA affects the level of mastering the foreign language. The causal issue of FLA and foreign language proficiency

remains controversial and FLA and foreign language achievemet seem to be "communicating vessels" with causality in either direction (cf. Sparks, & Ganschow, 1991; MacIntyre, 1995; Kráľová, Škorvagová, Tirpáková, & Markechová /forthcoming/).

Horwitz (2001) examined and reviewed the literature on FLA and foreign language achievement which is very helpful not only in documenting the relationship but also for our understanding of this multi-faceted phenomenon.

Although the results of researches were similar in demonstrating the presence of anxiety in the classrooms and its negative effect on foreign language achievement, more studies need to be done in this area to investigate the interplay of various contributing variables as the exact nature of this relationship is still blurry and may be influenced by various **concomitant factors**.

1.3 The Factors of Foreign Language Anxiety

Attempting to understand the overall process of foreign language learning, researchers have investigated the relationship of language learning and different **lingual** (related to the language system) and **extra-lingual** (related to the language learning process) variables (Kráľová, 2009).

Lingual factors can be subdivided into the categories **intra-lingual** and **inter-lingual**. Intralingual factors result from the system of a foreign language itself while the interlingual factors result from the contact of two language systems (mostly a native language and a foreign language) (Kráľová, 2009).

Several studies concluded that the typological distance between languages (as one of the intra-lingual factors) increases FLA, for example – Turkish (Kunt, 1997), Chinese (Yan, 1998), Spanish (Sellers, 2000), Japanese (Kitano, 2001), Arabic (Alrabai, 2015) or Mandarin (Yan, & Wang, 2001). Sparks, Ganschow, & Javorsky (2000) consisted on the fact that learners with poor first (native) language skills are naturally anxious in a foreign language.

Kráľová (2010) stated that the contrastive approach (comparison of a foreign language and a native language phonic systems) in teaching foreign language pronunciation resulted in better pronunciation and closer approximation to foreign language vowels than

the application of monolingual (foreign language only) approach.

Nevertheless, FLA is considered more of a psychological (identity-based) construct than a linguistic (competence-based) construct (Alrabai, 2015), and it most likely stems from the learner's perception of "self" (Scovel, 1991), where self-perceptions, perceptions of others, perceptions about foreign language learning and performance play important roles (Horwitz, Horwitz, & Cope, 1986; Gardner, & MacIntyre, 1993; Yon Yim, 2014).

The extralingual factors are thus believed to affect FLA more intensively than the lingual factors. Numerous studies trying to identify the learning-related variables of FLA most frequently recognized the cathegories of **personal (intra-personal** and **inter-personal)** and **impersonal** determinants (e.g., Bailey, 1983; Gardner, & MacIntyre, 1993; Onwuegbuzie, Bailey, & Daley, 1999; Kráľová, 2009; Paradowski, Dmowska, & Czasak, 2015).

The intra-personal determinants of FLA result from the learners' personal characteristics, their beliefs and attitudes within foreign language learning, while the interpersonal ones are bound to the interpersonal interactions (learner-teacher or learner-learner) during the learning process. The impersonal factors are related to non-personal aspects of foreign language learning.

From the temporal perspective, the **static** and the **dynamic** variables affecting FLA can be further distin-

guished within the extra-lingual factors. The static factors involve rather stable characteristics (gender, nationality, native language, type of personality, etc.) and the dynamic factors (such as language proficiency, motivation, and stay in a foreign language country) can change over time.

Horwitz, Horwitz, & Cope (1986) explained that FLA mostly shows up in its strongest form in testing situations. Learners commonly report various kinds of evaluative situations in which their knowledge and performance of foreign language is monitored by people around them as the most stressful situations contributing to FLA. They fear to make mistakes and as a result get corrected by the teacher in front of their classmates.

Horwitz, Horwitz, & Cope (1986) established three related situation-specific performance anxieties:

- 1. communication apprehension,
- 2. test anxiety,
- 3. fear of negative evaluation.

Communication apprehension is defined as the anxiety to communicate with people, including both the **production apprehension** (talking in front of others or in groups), and the **reception apprehension** (receiving and responding spoken message). Despite the fact that communication apprehension leads to fear of speaking, it also causes the fear of not being able to understand the others' speech.

Test anxiety, arises out of the fear of failing to perform. It can be explained through the high demands that learners put on themselves to be perfect masters of the foreign language. Fear of negative evaluation is explained as the learners' expectation to be evaluated negatively by others in any kind of situation (Wörde, 2003).

Even though the three anxiety-related concepts were often named differently across studies (e.g., examination anxiety, criticism anxiety – Park, & Lee, 2005), some of the authors suggested the four-factor model (Al-Shboul, Ahmad, Nordin, & Rahman, 2013) and sometimes, test anxiety is refuted as the concept related to general anxiety (Aida, 1994), they more or less support the Horwitz, Horwitz, & Cope's (1986) model.

However, Aida (1994) in his factor analytic study argues that number of scholars misinterprets the communication apprehension, test anxiety and fear of negative evaluation as the underlying subcomponents of FLA while Horwitz, Horwitz, & Cope (1986) suggested them as analogies to FLA.

Young (1990) listed six potential factors of FLA – personal and inter-personal anxieties, learner beliefs about language learning, instructor beliefs about language teaching, instructor-learner interactions, classroom procedures, and language testing.

Aida (1994) identified four factors causing anxiety within a foreign language classroom environment:

speech anxiety and fear of negative evaluation, fear of failing, comfortableness in speaking and negative attitudes towards the class.

In exploring the causes of FLA, Horwitz (1983) emphasized considering learners' emotional reactions to language learning. In order to identify adult students' beliefs about language learning, Horwitz (1983) created an instrument called the *Beliefs about Language Learning Inventory (BALLI)*.

Several studies support Horwitz (1983) in emphasizing the important role of learners' beliefs in foreign language learning. For example, Peacock (2001) conducted a longitudinal research on learner beliefs and Altan (2006) administered the questionnaire Beliefs about Language Learning Inventory (BALLI) to measure foreign language learners' beliefs.

The studies concluded that some beliefs are derived from unrealistic conceptions about language learning, for example learners' great concern for speaking with a native-like accent or their belief that language learning is just memorization and translation. The clash of learners' beliefs and reality is often one of the potential sources of anxiety.

Bailey (1983) was the first who examined FLA from the learners' point of view and he claimed that the competitive nature can lead to anxiety because students tend to compare themselves or idealize their self-images. Moreover, low-esteem causes worry and fear of the negative responses or evaluation from the classmates.

MacIntyre, Clément, Dörney, & Noels (1998) suggested a close correspondence between FLA and self-evaluation and considered them as a single construct – self-confidence. Self-confidence was indicated as a key variable of foreign language performance in several other studies (e.g., Matsuda, & Goebel, 2004).

Gardner, & MacIntyre (1993) reported significant relationship between learners' foreign language self-rating and their level of FLA. It appears that anxious learners often underestimate their actual language proficiency. Onwuegbuzie, Bailey, & Daley (1999) confirmed that highly anxious learners have negative perception of both their scholastic competence and their self-worth.

Horwitz, Horwitz, & Cope (1986) also state that overstudying is an FLA related phenomenon. Although students devote a lot of time to studying, they still do poorly in tests or oral exams. They become even more frustrated when they realize they do the same mistakes repeatedly as FLA has a cyclical nature (as learners experience more failure, their FLA level may increase even more).

Ohata (2005) indicated that teachers' perceptions play an important role in students' FLA as teacher is the person in the classroom who can regulate the atmosphere, search for the signs of anxiety and help students overcome it. The classroom that follows traditional learning styles, its strictness and formality was declared as the major source of stress. As teachers and learners constantly interact, the emotions of one group cannot be considered separately from the emotions of the other group. Morton, Vesco, Williams, & Awender (1997) studied the correlation of student-teachers' FLA and concluded that their demographic, experiential and dispositional variables may contribute to FLA, psychological disposition being the strongest predictor.

Perhaps one of the most interesting findings of the research focused on FLA differed according to the level of instruction is that advanced learners and learners who have lived or stayed in a foreign language country are more susceptible of FLA (Saito, & Samimy, 1996; Onwuegbuzie, Bailey, & Daley, 1999; Kitano, 2001; Gregersen, & Horwitz, 2002). On the contrary, Matsuda, & Gobel (2004) concluded that learners with experience in a foreign language country were less anxious speaking the foreign language.

Among other factors that received attention are undoubtedly individual characteristics such as extraversion, verbal intelligence (Kráľová, 2009), emotional intelligence, perfectionism (Gregersen, & Horwitz, 2002) or tolerance to ambiguity (Dewaele, & Shan Ip, 2013).

Kráľová (2011) examined the correlation of several personality characteristics and the level of foreign language pronunciation of learners applying the *Sixteen Personality Factor Questionnaire* (16PF) (Cattell, Cattell, Cattell, 1997). She detected significant positive relation-

ship in sensitivity, perfectionism and openness to change and significant negative proportion in vigilance, tough-mindedness and anxiety.

Kitano (2001) found a relationship between gender and FLA – male learners, who perceived themselves as less competent in a foreign language, suffered from FLA more than female learners. Dewaele, MacIntyre, Boudreau, & Dewaele (2016) revealed that female learners reported more fun in their foreign language class than male learners. On the other hand, they experienced higher FLA than their male peers. However, most of gender-related studies yielded rather conflicting results

Cultural and social environment, mainly the environment where learning takes place may influence the learners' level of anxiety. Other causes of anxiety may be learners' own concerns about their ethnicity, foreignness, social status, relations within the class or gender (Hashemi, & Abbasi, 2013).

Clement (1986) adds another perspective to the psycho-social dimension of foreign language learning. He argues that some foreign language learners in a multicultural setting can suffer from an emotional dilemma between the need to learn a foreign language and weakening their ethnic identity more that learners learning a foreign language in their native language and cultural setting.

Learning can thus be a threat not only for learners' selfidentity but also for their cultural or social identity. In Woodrow's research (2006) it is stated that English language learners from countries such as China, Korea and Japan were more anxious than other ethnic groups.

Further, Al-Saraj (2011) explains why Saudi Arabian culture creates a social and cultural setting for examining FLA. The education system in Saudi Arabia is free for all levels, where male and female students are separated, typically attending segregated schools. The combination of factors such as the importance of learning English, the educational system and conservative culture create an environment for FLA.

Larger social circumstances such as the availability of supportive conversational partners and foreign language role models may play a role in helping learners overcome their FLA (Dewaele, Petrides, & Furnham, 2008). Krashen (1985) contends that the affective filter can be lowered by learner's "target language group identification" when learner feels to be a member of particular foreign language group.

Spitalli (2000) found a significant negative relationship between FLA level and attitudes toward people from different cultures. In this context, Schumann's (1978) *Acculturation Model* suggests that learners' perceived "social distance" to a foreign language group can affect their interaction in the foreign language.

Social status of interlocutors can considerably influence the level of FLA especially when communicating with someone having better command of foreign language. Unequal language competencies are often reported as very stressful.

In addition to the above-mentioned influences, many other factors have received research attention: age; length of foreign language study; self-perceived foreign language proficiency; academic achievement (e.g., Onwuegbuzie, Bailey, & Daley, 1999; Kunt, & Tüm, 2010; Hashemi, & Abbasi, 2013); perfectionism (Gregerson, & Horwitz, 2002); competitiveness among learners and evaluation coming from the classmates (Bailey, 1983); societal interference and lack of preparation (Wei, 2014); error correction techniques (Young, 1991; Gregersen, 2003); and self-presentation concerns (Cohen, & Norst, 1989).

Moreover, English plays an important role in the global market as it is a communication language of business, education, science and technology and an effective oral communication is seen as a socialy valued skill. This fact may, on the one hand, serve as a motivator for learners, but on the other hand, it may be perceived by learners as pressure and consequently negatively contribute to FLA (Tran, Moni, &Baldauf, 2012).

Nevertheless, the factors involved in FLA as its **inhibitors** or **activators** are numerous and the list of potential sources of FLA can be rather long. However, Horwitz (2016) added that the components of FLA likely vary in different learner populations depending on their culture and proficiency.

1.4 The Consequences of Foreign Language Anxiety

FLA has the same clinical picture and **symptoms** as any other types of anxiety (Horwitz, 1986) – sweating, palpitations, trembling, apprehension, worry, fear, threat, difficult concentration, forgetfulness, freezing, going blank, and avoidance behavior (Horwitz, Horwitz, & Cope, 1986).

In the research conducted by Hashemi, & Abbasi (2013) the participants described their own signs of FLA such as blushing, perspiration, headaches, tension and pain in any part of the body, abnormal verbal behavior, such as staggered voice, either too fast or too slow speed of speech, rubbing the palms, squirming, fidgeting, playing with hair or clothes, touching objects, stuttering or stammering, poor performance, less interpretativeness, less eye contact because of reading from the paper or screen while giving presentations, etc.

Language learning is a cognitive activity that relies on encoding, storage and retrieval processes and FLA can interfere with each of these by causing a **divided attention** situation (MacIntyre, 1995). Eysenck (1979) explained the negative effects of anxiety in foreign language learning saying that anxious people divide their attention between task-related cognition and self-related or emotion-related cognition, making cognitive performance less efficient on all three stages of cognitive processing: input, processing (mental planning) and output (MacIntyre, & Gardner, 1991).

The "socio-affective filter" constructed by Dulay, & Burt (1977) is considered to be a source of the well-known Krashen's (1985) *Affective Filter Hypothesis*. An affective filter makes learner unreceptive to foreign language input. Some other psychological concepts related to FLA include the *Concept of Social Distance* (Schumann, 1978), the *Theory of Clash of Consciousness* (Clarke, 1976) or the *Concept of Language Ego* (Guiora, 1972).

Various consequences of FLA may appear at any phase of learning. At the input stage learners might pretend to be sick, hide in the last rows, or miss the classes to alleviate their anxiety. During the processing stage some of them tend to give up, procrastinate, or avoid studying which in the output stage results in freezing-up or memory lapses.

Students often claim that they know and understand the given foreign language phenomenon, but they tend to "forget" it when it comes to test or oral exercise, when many foreign language points must be recalled at the same time. Doing persistent errors in morphology, syntax or spelling due to nervousness is very common (Horwitz, Horwitz, & Cope, 1986).

According to the above mentioned researches, anxiety, which is present among learners of foreign languages, negatively influences their acquisition and further performance in a foreign language. Learners are very individual and therefore, the signs may differ in their manifestation or severity. That is, some learners may com-

pletely forget what they have learnt and be unable to perform in any way (oral or written) and some learners need only a small hint, help or motivation to be able to perform with imperceptible signs of anxiety.

However, **facilitating anxiety** is hardly being mentioned in literature (Kleinmann, 1977) and its effect has rarely been documented (Phillips, 1992). It was considered to occur in later stages of learning process (Beeman, Martin, & Meyers, 1972). Scovel (1991) considers facilitating and **debilitating anxiety** working in tandem – one arouses, the other depresses.

It has been suggested that some little anxiety may improve performance (Scovel, 1978). Similarly to the *Yerkes-Dodson Law* (Smith, Sarason, & Sarason, 1982), Eysenck (1979) describes a curvilinear relationship between FLA and foreign language performance as a function of task difficulty.

2 The Research of Foreign Language Anxiety

"Variety of opinion is necessary for objective knowledge." (Feyerabend, 1975)

After the mid 20th century researchers began realizing that the affective factors are equally relevant in learning as the cognitive factors. The early 1970s **descriptive studies** were focused mostly on the definition of FLA and examined its nature, symptoms, causes and consequences (e.g., Kleinmann, 1977; Eysenck, 1979).

Early **correlational studies** produced rather inconsistent results in determining the relationship between FLA and achievement in a foreign language – some studies found negative relationship between the anxiety and achievement; others found positive relationship, while others found no relationship at all.

Scovel (1978) was the first who acknowledged such inconsistent results. Chastain's (1975) findings of positive, negative and insignificant correlations between FLA and foreign language achievement within one study are cited as an example of such inconsistency.

Scovel's (1978) study "The Effect of Affect on Foreign Language Learning: A Review of the Anxiety Research" is recognized as a turning point in the study of FLA which led to the need of more precious conceptualization of FLA and a step towards measuring instruments specificity.

Since 1980s when Krashen (1981) hypothesized that the affective factors (anxiety, motivation and self-confidence) correlate with the success in foreign language learning, one of the most examined affective variables in the field of foreign language learning was foreign language anxiety.

The pioneer in studying affective variables in foreign language learning – R. C. Gardner (1985) – hypothesized that anxiety specific to foreign language learning is related to foreign language achievement. He introduced the *Attitude/Motivation Test Battery (AMTB)* to measure affective factors significant in foreign language learning such as motivation, attitude and anxiety.

Horwitz, Horwitz, & Cope (1986) made a valuable contribution not only to the theory but also to the measurement of FLA by their milestone work "Foreign Language Classroom Anxiety". They developed the most frequently used and adopted self-report tool to measure FLA in a classroom setting – the Foreign Language Classroom Anxiety Scale (FLCAS).

The thirty-three item Foreign Language Classroom Anxiety Scale scored on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from "strongly agree" to "strongly disagree" has been already used in a large number of research projects in different foreign language contexts (Horwitz, 2001). It has been found to have high internal reliability, test-retest reliability and construct validity (Horwitz, & Young, 1991; Aida, 1994; Cheng, Horwitz, & Schallert, 1999).

Several relevant instruments for general anxiety measurement had been developed before FLCAS, e.g., Spielberger, Gorsuch, & Lushene's (1970) self-report scale *The State-Trait Anxiety Inventory* to assess anxiety as a central construct in the theories of personality; Sarason's (1978) assessment of anxiety by the *Cognitive Interference Questionnaire* or Spielberger's (1980) *Test Anxiety Inventory* (TAI).

The structure of FLCAS was developed from foreign language students' reports, clinical experience of the authors and a review of related instruments, e.g., *Personal Report of Communication Apprehension* (McCroskey, 1984). Horwitz's (1986) subsequent paper reported the reliability and validity of FLCAS and concluded non-significant relationship between FLA and communication apprehension, fear of negative evaluation, and trait anxiety.

Foreign Language Classroom Anxiety Scale (Horwitz, Horwitz, & Cope, 1986)

- 1. I never feel quite sure of myself when I am speaking in my foreign language class.
- 2. I don't worry about making mistakes in language class.
- 3. I tremble when I know that I'm going to be called on in language class.
- 4. It frightens me when I don't understand what the teacher is saying in the foreign language.
- 5. It wouldn't bother me at all to take more foreign language classes.

- 6. During language class, I find myself thinking about things that have nothing to do with the course.
- 7. I keep thinking that the other students are better at languages than I am.
- 8. I am usually at ease during tests in my language class.
- 9. I start to panic when I have to speak without preparation in language class.
- 10. I worry about the consequences of failing my foreign language class.
- 11. I don't understand why some people get so upset over foreign language classes.
- 12. In language class I can get so nervous I forget things I know.
- 13. It embarrasses me to volunteer answers in my language class.
- 14. I would not be nervous speaking the foreign language with native speakers.
- 15. I get upset when I don't understand what the teacher is correcting.
- 16. Even if I am prepared for language class, I feel anxious about it.
- 17. I often feel like not going to my language class.
- 18. I feel confident when I speak in foreign language class.
- 19. I am afraid that my language teacher is ready to correct every mistake I make.
- 20. I can feel my heart pounding when I'm going to be called on in language class.
- 21. The more I study for a language test, the more confused I get.

- 22. I don't feel pressure to prepare very well for language class.
- 23. I always feel that the other students speak the foreign language better than I do.
- 24. I feel very self-conscious about speaking the foreign language in front of other students.
- 25. Language class moves so quickly I worry about getting left behind.
- 26. I feel more tense and nervous in my language class than in my other classes.
- 27. I get nervous and confused when I am speaking in my language class.
- 28. When I'm on my way to language class, I feel very sure and relaxed.
- 29. I get nervous when I don't understand every word the language teacher says.
- 30. I feel overwhelmed by the number of rules you have to learn to speak a foreign language.
- 31. I am afraid that other students will laugh at me when I speak the foreign language.
- 32. I would probably feel comfortable around native speakers of the foreign language.
- 33. I get nervous when the language teacher asks questions which I haven't prepared in advance.

The universal scale by Horwitz, Horwitz, & Cope (1986), has been later adjusted by other researchers according to the language or cultural background where the research has been conducted. As FLA has been studied mostly in classrooms where English was taught as a second/foreign language, the *English Learning Anxiety Scale (ELAS)* (Papamihiel, 2002) has been created for

learners of English as a second language and reported homogeneous results in anxiety level.

Firstly, the majority of research has been conducted in Western countries. Later on, more and more research results have been coming from Asian countries using modified scale versions. Moreover, in Saudi Arabia, the *Arabic Foreign Language Anxiety Questionnaire (AFLAQ)* (Al-Saraj, 2011) has been developed. To examine anxiety among non-native teachers the *Teacher Foreign Language Anxiety (TFLAS)* scale was developed (Horwitz, 1996). Today, the web-based versions of evaluation scales are frequently used (Wilson, & Dewaele, 2010).

Besides FLCAS and its adaptations, FLA is frequently measured by behavioral tests, subjects' self-reports, observations or by physiological tests. Physiological measures have long been used as a reliable quantificator of subjects' emotional state but there is an enormous variation in psychological reactions and physiological responses among individuals.

Tests of behavior, self-reports and observation are not as easily quantifiable, but they seem to be more precise in focusing on a specific affective construct (Scovel, 1991). Most studies use self-report because of its practicality and availability. Anyway, Beeman, Martin, & Meyers (1972) concluded that the correlation between these measurements of FLA remains low.

Studies of FLA used mostly **quantitative methods**, applying correlational analysis where questionnaires and

scales have been proved to be reliable instruments (e.g., FLCAS, TFLAS, and ELAS). From the qualitative methods, mostly interviews of anxious learners were performed.

It seems the correlational studies only will not provide a valid and reliable answer and in-depth understanding of FLA complexity. The investigation thus should not be limited to either quantitative of qualitative methods. FLA as a complex human phenomenon needs to be explored in a holistic perspective and the solution seems to be the **mixed methods** research.

The studies on FLA have developed from the beginning descriptive studies to the experimental studies increased considerably in 1990s. They looked more at the causes and factors of FLA and its effect under various learning conditions and aspects of language learning skills and language levels (e.g., Young, 1990; Koch, & Terrell, 1991; Oh, 1992).

Most FLA research took place in the classroom setting in a non-English speaking environment. Nevertheless, Gardner, & MacIntyre (1993) reminded that FLA can appear not only in a learning and classroom situation but also when using a foreign language in any other context.

On the contrary, learning a foreign language outside the classroom can be even more stressful. Whatever a learner says in a foreign language is no longer excused as a part of the learning process but considered to be the learner's legitimate representation (Clarke, 1976).

There are fewer studies examining studying foreign languages in a distance context (e.g., White, 2003). White (2003) claimed that distance learners apply metacognitive and affective learning strategies more than classroom learners in their need for self-direction. Hauck, & Hurd (2005) compared FLA in face-to-face language learning settings and virtual distance setting as both having their pros and cons.

Moreover, Horwitz (1996) using the Teacher Foreign Language Anxiety Scale (TFLAS), was the first researcher to propose that non-native teachers and student teachers may experience feelings of FLA as well. Nevertheless, the research on foreign language teachers and student teachers' feelings of anxiety remains very limited to this day.

Teachers' FLA can have a number of undesirable effects on foreign language education (Horwitz, 1996). As the number of non-native foreign language teachers increases by the year, it is clear that more research is desperately needed in this area.

Intensive research in the area of FLA made anxiety one of the most highly examined variables in psychology and education (Horwitz, 2001). Most of them proved the debilitating effect on foreign language competence and performance (MacIntyre & Gardner, 1994).

Negative correlation between FLA and foreign language achievement has been well established in literature (e.g., Horwitz, 1986; Young, 1991; MacIntyre, & Gardner, 1991; Aida, 1994; Horwitz, 1996; Kunt, 1997; Mac Intyre, 1999; Kitano, 2001; Yan, & Wang, 2001; Liu, & Zhang, 2013).

Researchers have mostly focused on the negative side of foreign language learning for a long time with FLA being one of the most studied topics. The current trend of **positive psychology** (Frederickson, 2003) interested in positive emotions in foreign language learning has been increasing only in recent years.

Positive psychology is considered to have the potential to become a significant factor in foreign language learning as it moves toward activating learners' strengths and self-regulted learning (MacIntyre, Gregersen, & Mercer, 2016). Similarly as the new conceptual framework *EMPHATIC* developed by Oxford (2016).

Dewaele, & MacIntyre (2014) introduced the concept of **Foreign Language Enjoyment** (FLE) and concluded that positive emotions (Foreign Language Enjoyment) and negative emotions (Foreign Language Anxiety) are related, though independent, but not opposite phenomena in foreign language learning. In line with this trend, the latest studies introduced and verified the effectiveness of various intervention strategies in foreign language learning (see Chapter 4 – Foreign Language Anxiety Coping Strategies).

Dewaele, & MacIntyre (2016) as first created and applied the *Foreign Language Enjoyment Scale (FLES)* containing twenty-one items divided into two dimensions FLE-Social and FLE-Private evaluated in a five-point scale (strongly disagree, disagree, undecided, agree, strongly agree):

- 1. I can be creative.
- 2. I can laugh off embarrassing mistakes in the FL.
- 3. I don't get bored.
- 4. I enjoy it.
- 5. I feel as though I'm a different person during the FL class.
- 6. I learn to express myself better in the FL.
- 7. I'm a worthy member of the FL class.
- 8. I've learnt interesting things.
- 9. In class, I feel proud of my accomplishments.
- 10. It's a positive environment.
- 11. It's cool to know a FL.
- 12. It's fun.
- 13. Making errors is part of the learning process.
- 14. The peers are nice.
- 15. The teacher is encouraging.
- 16. The teacher is friendly.
- 17. The teacher is supportive.
- 18. There is a good atmosphere.
- 19. We form a tight group.
- 20. We have common 'legends', such as running jokes.
- 21. We laugh a lot.

FLA has been a great concern in foreign language research over the last decades and triggered many intensive debates (see Chapter 1.2 – The Causes of Foreign Language Anxiety). Although the opinions on many issues are different, it does not mean they exclude or reject each other (Tran, 2012). On the contrary, the challenges play a vital role in the research of such a complex phenomenon as FLA is.

3 The Subtypes of Foreign Language Anxiety

"The limits of my language are the limits of my world."
(Wittgenstein, 1961)

3.1 Skills-Based Foreign Language Anxiety

Numerous studies have examined FLA in relation to specific language aspects distinguishing between the **systems-based** and **skills-based** FLA. The research has been dominantly focused on language skills – such as **reading** (e.g., Oh, 1992; Saito, Horwitz, & Garza, 1999; Sellers, 2000; Argaman, & Abu-Rabia, 2002), **listening** (e.g., Goh, 2000; Kim, 2000; Elkhafaifi, 2005; Zhai, 2015), **writing** (e.g., Cheng, Horwitz, & Schallert, 1999; Hilleson, 1996; Cheng, 2002), and **speaking** (e.g., Steinberg, & Horwitz, 1986; Young, 1990; Woodrow, 2006).

Until the Hilleson's (1996) study on reading and writing anxieties, researchers associated FLA mostly with speaking and listening as the skills most affected by anxiety. This anticipated the research on skill-specific anxieties and most studies provided evidence for the existence of skill-specific FLA.

Pae (2013) indicated significant intra-relations and independent inter-relations of FLA types related to all four language skills with general FLA. In general, learners feel more comfortable about receptive skills than about the productive skills (Kim, & Kim, 2004).

Many authors created and used a skill-specific instrument to measure FLA, for example Second Language Speaking Anxiety Scale (SLSAS) (Woodrow, 2006); Speaking Anxiety Scale (Pae, 2013); Foreign Language *Listening Anxiety Scale (FLLAS)* designed by Kim (2000); Foreign Language Reading Anxiety Scale (FLRAS) developed by Saito, Horwitz, & Garza (1999) and Writing Anxiety Scale by Daly, & Miller (1975).

Woodrow's (2006) results indicate that FLA is the most crucial predictor of foreign language oral performance. As regards speaking, more anxious students produce less personal and interpretive speech (Steinberg, & Horwitz, 1986); smaller continuous speech and make longer mid-clause pauses (Djigunovic, 2006). Gregesen, & Horwitz (2002) reported different reactions in foreign language oral communication between anxious learners who tried to avoid mistakes and non-anxious learners who continued talking in spite of mistakes.

Negative correlation was observed between sustained attention levels during conversation tasks and levels of FLA in classroom condition (Chang, Fang, Yang, Luo, Chew, & Chen, 2017). Interestingly, the authors detected positive correlation between the attention levels and states of FLA in the real-world situated condition.

MacIntyre, Clément, Dörney, & Noels (1998) conceptualized and offered a model of the Willingness to Communicate (WTC) in a foreign language as an alternative concept to FLA explaining the influence of FLA on foreign language oral production. MayIntyre (2007) suggested that FLA and WTC should be viewed as state, situation-specific, and trait characteristics and he formulates the essential question of the WTC model and the critical decision for foreign language learning: "Does a learner choose to communicate when the opportunity arises?" (p. 567).

Dixson (1991) found out that while listening, anxious students had difficulty to comprehend the content of the target language. Zhai (2015) stated significant negative correlation between FLA and listening comprehension and put forward some useful suggestions to enhance listening proficiency of foreign language learners.

Sellers (2000) investigated the relationship between anxiety and reading and concluded that anxious students do not understand the tasks correctly and tend to recall less passage content while reading than their less anxious mates. Saito, Horwitz, & Garza (1999) revealed that reading anxiety increased with learners' perception of the difficulty of reading.

Argaman, & Abu-Rabia (2002) found significant relationships between FLA and achievement in foreign language writing comprehension tasks. Cheng's (2002) regression analysis results indicated that perceived writing competence predicts writing anxiety better than writing achievement does.

3.2 Systems-Based Foreign Language Anxiety

Though the correlational studies of FLA and proficiency at different language levels have been by far outnumbered by skill-specific studies, there was also found the negative relationship between FLA and foreign language **vocabulary** and **grammar** across studies (Van Patten, & Glass, 1999; Sheen, 2007). For instance, learners were concerned about their lack of vocabulary and less concerned about grammar and not concerned about the limited knowledge of foreign language **culture** (Kim, & Kim, 2004).

Foreign language **pronunciation** anxiety appears to be significantly related to the learners' willingness to communicate (Price, 1991; Phillips, 1992; Baran-Lucarz, 2011; 2014) as one of its most immediate determinants, because speaking, listening and pronunciation are closely related. However, only a few experiments studying foreign language pronunciation anxiety and verifying the strategies of its reduction have been conducted so far.

Since pronunciation is the most salient aspect of the language ego (Guiora, Beit-Hallahmi, Brannon, Dull & Scovel, 1972) and difficult to acquire in a new language, it is strongly related to human identity and the learner's level of self-confidence. Moreover, pronunciation plays a dominant role in the way we view our communication partners (Lev-Ari, & Keysar, 2010), therefore the apprehension of one's ego being endangered in front of significant others can be rather a strong cause of FLA

among foreign language learners (Szyszka, 2011; Baran-Łucarz, 2014).

The study of Guiora, Beit-Hallahmi, Brannon, Dull & Scovel (1972) on changes in ego states induced by the ingestion of alcohol on pronunciation ability in a foreign language is one of the most cited experiments within foreign language learning in the popular press. Nevertheless, it proved the hypothesized psychological inhibitions as the most significant factor in achieving foreign language pronunciation.

Early arguments relating the relationship of foreign language pronunciation and FLA come from Horwitz, Horwitz, & Cope (1986). Concerned the nature of FLA related to the communication apprehension, fear of negative evaluation and test anxiety (Horwitz, Horwitz, & Cope, 1986) we can expect foreign language pronunciation to be a significant variable of the overall FLA.

However, a few experiments studying the foreign language pronunciation anxiety (Baran-Łucarz, 2013) and verifying the strategies of its reduction (Shams, 2005; Kráľová, Škorvagová, Tirpáková, & Markechová /forthcoming/) have been conducted so far.

Baran-Łucarz (2013) investigated the effect of anxiety on learning foreign language phonetics (*Phonetics Learning Anxiety*) – which represents an interesting step in understanding of the impact of affective factors on pronunciation learning.

She points out that no instrument has been designed yet to examine specifically the pronunciation anxiety and she introduced the *Measure of Pronunciation Anxiety* (Baran-Łucarz, 2016). Shams (2005) compared the effectiveness of two FLA-reducing approaches in pronunciation training (training in a listening laboratory and in a computer laboratory).

Kráľová, Škorvagová, Tirpáková, & Markechová (forthcoming) tested the psycho-social training as a strategy reducing foreign language pronunciation anxiety among non-native pre-service teachers of a foreign language. The authors created and applied the *Foreign Language Pronunciation Anxiety Scale* evaluated in 6-point Likert scale (strongly agree, agree, partly agree, partly disagree, disagree, strongly disagree) as an instrument to measure this subtype of anxiety:

- 1. I feel nervous when speaking English.
- 2. I do not like talking to more advanced English speakers.
- 3. I feel embarrassed talking to people with good English pronunciation.
- 4. I get nervous when I have to speak English in front of other people.
- 5. I am not satisfied with my English pronunciation.
- I am bothered about making pronunciation mistakes.
- 7. I realize how many pronunciation mistakes I make.

- 8. I feel embarrassed when I realize that I pronounce some words incorrectly.
- 9. I am afraid people will think I am silly and incompetent because of my poor English pronunciation.
- 10. I consider imitating native-like English pronunciation ridiculous.
- 11. I am afraid my future students will have better English pronunciation than I do.
- 12. Other students have better English pronunciation than I do.
- 13. I am worried about not being understood because of my improper pronunciation.
- 14. I feel ashamed when people correct my pronunciation mistakes.
- 15. It seems to me that I cannot get rid of my native language accent in English.
- 16. I can never master good English pronunciation.
- 17. I think English pronunciation is very difficult.
- 18. I consider the rules of English pronunciation incomprehensible.
- 19. It is very difficult to pronounce like a native speaker.
- 20. I think that good English pronunciation is very important for an English teacher.

The studies proved, among other things, that pronunciation training combined with an intervention strategy resulted not only in the improvement of foreign language pronunciation but also in reducing FLA which is an important contribution to discussing the idea that FLA anxiety may be the result as well as the cause of

insufficient command in a foreign language (Sparks, & Ganschow, 1991).

Almost all the above mentioned research has been carried out among the main-stream classes. Learners with **special educational needs** have been long-neglected (Sparks, & Young, 2009). Though, they in many cases experience quite serious feelings of anxiety that influence their further understanding and production in a foreign language.

Supposing a student has problems with reading, they see the text blurred, they mistake letters, they are not able to concentrate, they need longer time to understand the subject or finish the exercise and the parents, teachers and the environment generally bring pressure on the learners to do the task as expected by intact learners, the feelings of anxiety and discomfort emerge. For example, dyslexic students often feel stressed and "dumb" and less capable what leads to discouragement about continuing in learning (Dyslexia Basics, 2012).

4 Foreign Language Anxiety Coping Strategies

"Peak experiences can never be a goal; they are byproducts of engaging fully in something meaningful." (Oxford, 2015)

Considerable scholarly attention has been paid to strategies to alleviate the anxiety of people in various situations and contexts for many years. Several anxiety workshops (e.g., the Foreign Language Anxiety Workshop at the Defense Institute in San Francisco, U.S.A., in 1987); programs (e.g., the Support Group for Foreign Language Learning at the University of Texas at Austin, U.S.A., operating since the 1980s) and clinics (e.g., the Science Anxiety Clinic at Loyola University, U.S.A. in 1976) have been successfully implemented in various fields of education (Campbell, & Ortiz, 1991).

Within foreign language learning numerous **FLA coping** (reducing or management) **strategies** have been discussed. Already Horwitz (1990) suggested a three-strategy approach as the most effective treatment including: systematic desensitization – learning how to relax in the presence of anxiety stimuli; cognitive modification – changing learners' own cognitive appraisals and managing their self-evaluation; and skills training.

When verifying ways of reducing FLA, earlier studies focused on two primary strategies – skills development and behavioral therapy. The combination of these two strands was considered to be the best therapeutic approach (Daly, 1991). Many learners of foreign languages

intuitively assume that the most effective "remedies" in relieving their FLA are – intellectual (more intensive foreign language practice) and emotional (something which would reduce their psychological inhibitions regarding communication in a foreign language) (MacIntyre, 1995; Kráľová, Škorvagová, Tirpáková, & Markechová /forthcoming/).

Foss, & Reitzel (1991) presented a relational model for coping with FLA including several treatment strategies for five components of foreign language competence – motivation, knowledge, skills, criteria outcomes and context.

Young's (1986) finding that ability level has been an important variable in anxiety examination was a significant contribution to FLA research. There is a lot of evidence that FLA decreases as foreign language proficiency increases (e.g., Gardner, Smythe, & Brunet, 1977; Kráľová, Škorvagová, Tirpáková, & Markechová, /forthcoming/).

Researchers have already verified strategies of various kinds (e.g., Shams, 2005; Nagahashi, 2007; Tsiplakides, & Keramida, 2009; Alrabai, 2015) where the remediation of FLA has focused mainly on three approaches – cognitive, affective and behavioral (Hembree, 1988; Kondo, & Ying-Ling, 2004) according to the modality emphasized.

Studies which verified the **cognitive approach** focused on changing learners' own cognitive appraisals. The cognitive modification method is recommended for teaching learners more realistic self-evaluation (Mejías, Applebaum, Applebaum, & Trotter, 1991). Researchers have examined (inter alia) the effectiveness of cooperative learning techniques (Nagahashi, 2007), traditional vs. modern teaching techniques (Hismanoglu, & Hismanoglu, 2010), summative vs. formative evaluation (Hashemi, & Abbasi 2013) as well as oral corrective feedback (Lee, 2016).

The **affective approach** is focused on reducing the negativity of the foreign language experience and includes therapies such as systematic desensitization (Fuller, 1978; Mejías, Applebaum, Applebaum, & Trotter, 1991), biofeedback (Walton, 1981), support groups (Foss, & Reitzel, 1991), relaxation (Ratanasiripong, Sverduk, Hayashino, & Prince, 2010), meditation (Oxford, 2015), an engagement program (Ismail, 2016), doodling (Siagto-Wakat, 2016) and recall techniques (Cinkara, 2016).

The **behavioral approach** presumes that FLA occurs as a result of poor language skills, prompting the attempt to train learners in skills, applying different methods and techniques, e.g., computerized pronunciation practice (Shams, 2005), explicit instruction and self-analysis in the acquisition of foreign language pronunciation (Lord, 2005) and teaching speaking in a virtual environment (Grant, Huang, & Pasfield-Neofitou, 2014). FLA reducing strategies can also be classified according to whether they refer to either **internal** or **external** parts of the education process. Within the internal elements of the education process – a teacher and a learn-

er, two types of FLA reducing strategies can be distinguished.

Teaching strategies are applied by foreign language teachers to help their students learn a foreign language more effectively (Horváthová, 2013). **Learning strategies** are applied by foreign language learners consciously or subconsciously and they usually develop from their learning styles (Oxford, 1990).

Today, strategies external to the education process are intensively applied in line with the post-communicative approach in foreign language pedagogy integrating affective, cognitive and behavioral modalities of learning. Such **intervention strategies** are often led by psychologists in close cooperation with foreign language teachers.

4.1 Teaching Strategies

Although mostly theoretical, several researchers have made useful suggestions for teachers on how to help learners diminish their FLA in the classroom (Horwitz, Horwitz, & Cope, 1986; Horwitz, 1990; Young, 1990; Horwitz, & Young, 1991; Onwuegbuzie, Bailey, & Daley, 1999; Young, 1999; Arnold, 1999; Kondo, & Ying-Ling, 2004; Hauck, & Hurd, 2005; Hashemi, & Abbasi, 2013; Alrabai, 2015).

In their edited volume Horwitz, & Young (1991) offered both theoretical and practical perspectives on FLA and practical advice for decreasing FLA in language instruction. Young (1990) also offered some advice for teachers to decrease FLA of their students:

- 1. Using an anxiety graph to pinpoint the highest level of anxiety of a given interaction.
- 2. Providing supplemental instruction or a support group.
- 3. Using more pair and group work.
- 4. Playing language games with an emphasis on problem-solving.
- 5. Using role-playing.

A later volume by Young (1999) addressed all four language skills – listening, speaking, reading, and writing along with the cultural aspect and offers specific suggestions for teachers to alleviate learners' FLA in a foreign language classroom.

Hashemi and Abbasi (2013) collected some helpful recommendations for teachers to alleviate their students' anxiety:

- 1. Scan for the signs of anxiety by students and apply quick strategies to help them overcome the destructive feelings.
- 2. Create student-friendly and learning-supportive environment in the class.
- 3. Create friendship and cooperation among students.
- 4. Put more emphasis on formative assessment and constructive feedback rather than summative assessment.
- 5. A communicative approach should be adopted so that students get more chances to practise their speaking skills.
- 6. Encourage students not to be afraid of making mistakes.
- 7. Do not correct student's each mistake.
- 8. Make students feel successful and satisfied when using foreign language.
- 9. Choose activities and tasks that do not cause instant frustration.
- 10. Initiate discussion about how the students feel, for instance, when giving presentations, and help them overcome their worries.
- 11. Search for more training courses on general psychology including language anxiety and learning differences.

Various approaches, methods and techniques have already been verified to make foreign language learning more effective. They have mostly pursued efforts aimed at making the classroom environment a more friendly place where learners can make mistakes - the Constructivist Theory of Learning (Vygotsky, 1978); can succeed even with imperfect foreign language competence - the Communicative Approach (Nunan, 1991), feel safe with a pretended identity in role-play activities - Suggestopedia (Lozanov, 1979); let foreign language communication emerge spontaneously - the Natural Approach (Krashen, & Terrell, 1983); talk about one's state of learning - Counselling-Learning and use interaction as a vehicle for learning - Community Language Learning (Curran, 1976) or coordinate language learning with physical movement - Total Physical Response (Asher, 1977).

Koch, & Terrell (1991) studied learners' reactions to activities and teaching techniques within the Natural Approach that is generally concerned with FLA reduction. They found out that some activities (peer work and personal discussions) were perceived as less stressful though there was high inter-individual variability in judging the activities.

Nagahashi (2007) examined the effectiveness of cooperative learning techniques where the group has a common learning goal and members can learn from each other. Cooperative learning proved to be effective in reducing FLA by providing a non-threatening and supportive environment where learners feel less intimidated working with "equal" partners.

Horwitz, Horwitz, & Cope (1986) proposed several specific techniques teachers may use to allay learners' FLA: e.g., behavioral contracting (a learner agrees to spend a specific amount of time on a task, and then reportsback to the teacher).

Crookall, & Oxford (1991) discussed several classroom activities that can be used with learners and teachers to deal with FLA (e.g., agony columns, ghost avengers, mistakes panels, anxious photos, reversed accents, trigger pictures and linguethic). Several other strategies (e.g., written reflections and support groups) are also mentioned in literature related to this topic (McCoy, 1979; Crookall, & Oxford, 1991; Foss, & Reitzel, 1991).

Grant, Huang, & Pasfield-Neofitou (2014) consider virtual environments (chats and computer games) as more effective FLA reducing strategies then those which take place in real world communication. Here, interlocutors communicate through their virtual identities and thus protect their language egos. Learners reported greater engagement in learning in a virtual environment and found it less FLA-inducing in terms of foreign language use (due to anonymity, not having to perform in front of others, conversations evolving in slow motion, and so on).

A video-stimulated recall technique was employed to assist learners in reflecting upon the symptoms and causes of FLA during speaking and it was proven to be an effective reflective tool (Cinkara, 2016). Doodling was explored as a non-verbal tool in surfacing FLA experiences of foreign language learners (Siagto-Wakat, 2016). It appeared to be a helpful technique in enabling learners to express their classroom experiences. This can help foreign language teachers realize the impact of FLA on their learners.

Beyond any doubt a teacher plays one of the most important roles in increasing or alleviating the anxiety of foreign language learners. In research carried out by AlSaraj (2011), the majority of participants pointed out that their teachers' characteristics and personalities were the major cause of their anxiety.

Teachers providing incomprehensible explanations, over-correcting students, demonstrating visible favouritism, being authoritarian, and embarrassing and humiliating students create a stressful environment in class and thus contribute strongly to increasing anxiety (Tanveer, 2007).

Learners appreciate it when their teachers are friendly, patient, and helpful, as well as when they smile and care (Young, 1990). Therefore, it is important that teachers pay attention to signals of anxiety radiating from their students and respond sensitively to these feelings in order for students to most benefit from the education process.

In Williams, & Andrade's (2008) study, learners reported the procedure in which a teacher calls on students to answer publicly, as one of the most significant sources of their foreign language classroom anxiety. Calling on students in a predictable order caused less anxiety than them being randomly selected.

Price (1991) explains that students need to feel their teacher's support, encouragement and patience with their errors, without the teacher being excessively critical. As learners appear sensitive and defensive to corrections in foreign language production perceiving every correction as a failure, the selection of error correction techniques should be very empathic.

Horwitz, Horwitz, & Cope (1986) recommended that teachers select error correction techniques and base them on instructional philosophy so as to reduce defensive reactions in students. For both teachers and learners it is essential to realize that errors are an inevitable part of foreign language learning. Interlanguage is continually changing and fluctuations in foreign language competence are natural.

Learners report less FLA when foreign language teachers have attitude that mistakes are no big deal, their manner of correction is not harsh, when learners can volunteer answers and are not called on to provide responses (Young, 1990).

Summative and constructive feedback on errors is recommended rather than interrupting and correcting learners during their communication. Lee (2016) examined the oral corrective feedback and changes in foreign language students' anxiety levels and the study highlighted the potential affective risks of oral pronunciation corrections.

Nearly all interventions to reduce FLA are learner-oriented and assume foreign language teachers will implement anxiety-relieving behavior and practice in their classrooms. It is often forgotten that many foreign language teachers are not native speakers of a foreign language and may face FLA as well (Horwitz, 1996; Numrich, 1996; Ohata, 2005).

However, to this day, research on teachers' and student teachers' FLA is limited to more or less descriptive studies. Nevertheless, this kind of FLA can have rather an undesirable influence on foreign language learning. The role of a teacher is undoubtedly one of the most crucial ones in making foreign language learning less stressful and more enjoyable (Horwitz, 1996; Al-Saraj, 2011; Hashemi, & Abbasi, 2013; Lee, 2016).

Foreign language teachers are supposed to be perfect foreign language speakers and much of their FLA stems from the inherent threat to their self-concept of competence (Horwitz, 1996). High-level foreign language competence can be best achieved by intensive communication with foreign language native speakers or a longer stay in a foreign language country (Matsuda, & Gobel, 2004).

In fact, not many foreign language teachers have access to this. Moreover, teaching today is extremely demanding, both cognitively and emotionally. Students are likely to sense their teachers' uncertainty in a foreign language so the teachers should be supported to cope with their problems (including foreign language anxiety) prior to their teaching career, so that they will be able to manage their own FLA and FLA of their students. The courses on general psychology focused on teachers' needs and problems should be incorporated into the teacher-training curricula.

Though practice in teaching foreign language appears to be a viable strategy to reduce FLA (Morton, Vesco, Williams, & Awender, 1997), some kind of post-communist countries' paradox should be mentioned in this context (Král'ová, Škorvagová, Tirpáková, & Markechová /forthcoming/) corresponding to the previous findings that high level of FLA is associated with older learners, who had never visited a foreign country (Onwuegbuzie, Bailey, & Daley, 1999).

More experienced foreign language teachers often experience higher speaking anxiety due to some previous socio-political factors. Lack of communication in an authentic foreign language and limited opportunities to stay in a foreign language speaking country during the communist years caused higher communication inhibitions among teachers of Western foreign languages. Similar findings have been revealed in the Korean context (Kim, & Kim, 2004).

Anyway, native speakers are not always the best foreign language teachers. Non-native teachers' strong point is that they have also been foreign language learners and understand the pitfalls of the learning process specific for the given language and cultural context (Malá, Gadušová, & Zelenický, 2008). Teachers with a realistic appreciation of their foreign language competence will be more willing to seek out improvement opportunities and using more communicative teaching practices (Horwitz, 1996).

4.2 Learning strategies

It may also be helpful for foreign language learners to find their own strategies to overcome anxiety in stressful situations. Many students like to have some rituals before big exams or they keep talismans close. Hauck, & Hurd (2005) have collected a few strategies for learners to deal with FLA:

- 1. Use positive self-talk (e.g. I can do it; it doesn't matter if I make mistakes; others make mistakes).
- Actively encourage myself to take risks in language learning, such as guessing meanings or trying to speak, even though I might make some mistakes.
- 3. Imagine that when I am speaking in front of others, it is just a friendly informal chat.
- 4. Tell myself when I speak that it won't take long.
- 5. Give myself a reward or treat when I do well.
- 6. Be aware of physical signs of stress that might affect my language learning.
- 7. Write down my feelings in a day or notebook.
- 8. Share my worries with other students.
- 9. Let my tutor know that I am anxious.
- 10. Use relaxation techniques, e.g. deep breathing, consciously speaking more slowly, etc.

The most employed model of language learning strategies is the *Strategy Inventory for Language Learning* (Oxford, 1990) in which language learning strategies fall into six categories:

- 1. memory storing and retrieval of information;
- 2. cognitive manipulation or transformation of the foreign language;
- 3. metacognitive relate to learners' cognition;
- 4. compensation compensation or production in spite of limitations in knowledge of the foreign language;
- 5. affective regulation of feelings and attitudes;
- 6. social involve communication with other people.

Lu, & Liu (2011) explored cognitive and metacognitive language learning strategies in relation to FLA among Chinese university students of English. They concluded that less anxious language learners tend to choose more language learning strategies that are more appropriate to a given task.

Kondo, & Ying-Ling (2004) developed a typology of strategies that learners use to cope with FLA in five categories: preparation (e.g., studying hard, getting to use a foreign language, concentrating in class); relaxation (e.g., taking deep breaths, drawing to calm down); positive thinking (e.g., imagining one's good performance in a foreign language, thinking of something pleasant, trying not to take it too seriously); peer seeking (e.g., asking other learners for advice, talking with friends in their proximity), and resignation (e.g., accepting the situation, giving up on studying).

Paradowski, Dmowska, & Czasak (2015) studied coping strategies that foreign language learners employ to conquer speaking anxiety. They consider learner-centered humanistic techniques emphasizing positive atmosphere crucial in this context.

Two types of awareness are distinguished within humanistic techniques (Bowen, 2004) – experiential awareness (helping learners get rid of unrealistic expectations about the foreign language learning process) and group awareness (helping learners create a sense of common objective and collective success in foreign language learning).

4.3 Intervention strategies

Modern trends in teaching foreign languages emphasize an affective aspect of learning to counterbalance the cognitive aspect. The **post-communicative approach** (Foreign Languages and Higher Education: New Structures for a Changed World, 2007) in foreign language teaching and learning utilizes psychological methods and techniques to make it more effective and enjoyable.

While FLA researchers have mostly focused on reducing the negative effect of FLA, the current trend of positive psychology (Oxford, 2015) that aims to activate character strengths and self-regulated learning to enhance professional and personal well-being has been increasing in recent years (Dewaele, & MacIntyre, 2014).

The current trend of positive psychology increasing positive emotions, relationships and accomplishment has the potential to become a significant approach in coping with FLA (Seligman, 2011). Oxford (2015) analysed several emotion theories and how they apply to foreign language learning. In the *PERMA* theory within positive psychology, five "elements of well-being" (Seligman, 2011) are included – Positive emotion (P), Engagement (E), Relationships (R), Meaning (M) and Accomplishment (A).

Oxford (2015) further demonstrates how FLA can be managed through particular emotional strategies. *ABCDE macro-strategy* (Seligman, 2011) and *REBT – Rational Emotion Behavior Therapy* (Ellis, 2003) contain a set of interlocking strategies to self-identify irrational

beliefs connected with foreign language learning. The strategy of identification must always be accompanied by strategies of creating counter-evidence and creating a new (positive) mindset (Oxford, 2015).

Relaxation techniques are becoming more and more discussed nowadays and research has verified their effectiveness regarding the control of FLA. Biofeedback therapists teach anxious individuals to control their FLA in anxiety-provoking situations and settings by generating relaxation instead of anxiety responses through the gradual introduction of anxiety-provoking stimuli (Walton, 1981).

Robinson, Segal, Segal, & Smith (2015) suggest progressive muscle relaxation, visualization, meditation, yoga or tai chi as further techniques to overcome stress and alleviate anxiety from the longitudinal point of view. Through the meditation-like strategies, learners should bring their negative emotions concerning foreign language learning under control – accept them, learn from them and let them go (Oxford, 2015).

Paradowski, Dmowska, & Czasak (2015) discuss over-coming learners' detrimental beliefs about foreign language learning by building experiential awareness, and overcoming fears stemming from classroom interactions by enhancing group awareness.

Cohn, & Frederickson (2010) published one of the first and most detailed survey of positive psychology intervention – loving-kindness meditation intervention. Though not specifically focused on foreign language learning, they provided evidence about the long-term and continued effect of positive psychology intervention on behavioral maintenance.

Stranovská et al. (2013) examined the psycho-linguistic intervention program on learning foreign languages from multi-layer and longitudinal perspectives. They concluded that the integration of information and emotions with an emphasis on practical application is a significant trend in learning and teaching (not only for foreign languages).

The effect of the engagement program including learning activities, drawing, writing on the board, exercises and educational videos, was verified among Saudi female university students of English in alleviating their FLA and enhancing their motivation for learning English (Ismail, 2016).

Kráľová, Škorvagová, Tirpáková, & Markechová (forthcoming) examined an affective intervention in the form of psycho-social training as an FLA reducing strategy. Psycho-social training is a non-therapeutic intervention training program of active social learning that should help individuals cope with stressful situations by developing their social abilities (sensitivity, assertiveness, empathy, communication and cooperation). It helps them enhance their self-confidence, acquire adequate reactions, realize reasons for diffidence, strengthen their will and active self-knowledge and cope with stage fright (Škorvagová, 2015).

Psycho-social training is widely accepted and applied at all levels of education in the United States and Western

Europe (Coleman, & Deutsch, 2000; Topping, Holmes, & Bremner, 2000; Polk, 2000). Compared to more traditional forms of education, it induces deeper and longer-term positive changes in participants' social competence (Positive Youth Development, 2014).

Matsumoto, Kudoh, Scherer, & Wallbott (1988) unearthed particularly interesting findings about the locus of control – foreign learners' belief about who or what is responsible for negative emotion-eliciting events during foreign language learning. Participants who attributed the responsibility to other forces or people (external locus of control) demonstrated more limited coping abilities than those who thought they were personally responsible for the event (internal locus of control).

Apart from recent attempts to test the effectiveness of FLA reducing strategies, an empirical work with sound comparative and longitudinal aspects testing the effectiveness of such strategies in a longitudinal design is yet to be established. The recommendations and strategies mentioned above may be very helpful for foreign language learning and teaching but it is important to bear in mind that all learners differ and thus each learner requires a different approach.

Conclusions

"Language learning is a life-long commitment." (Horwitz, 1996)

Foreign language learning is a life-long commitment (Horwitz, 1996), so it should be the main objective of foreign language methodologists to find the most efficient methods for foreign language learning and teaching. They should take into consideration the real needs of foreign language learners and teachers, thus making the acquisition of foreign language more effective, enjoyable and less frustrating.

The multifactorial nature of FLA and the demand on communication in modern language learning pose a challenge to researchers to help foreign language learners. Nevertheless, the phenomenon of FLA cannot be defined in a linear way, it should be better understood as a complex psychological phenomenon influenced by many different factors. As every human is individual and distinct in their character, the above mentioned factors influence each learner in a different way and intensity.

It is human and natural to feel stress or anxiety in certain situations. However, it is important to be able to cope with the negative feelings so that they do not affect one's life, learning and performance. Because an anxious foreign language learner is a less effective foreign language learner (Horwitz, 1996).

Certainly, the information presented above is neither exhaustive nor definite to understand the entire phenomenon of foreign language anxiety. However, it is hoped that this book will add more systematized information to the study of anxiety among foreign language learners which could prove to be of interest for foreign language teaching methodology.

Index

activator	19
antecedent	3
anxiety	3-5
debilitating	22
facilitating	22
foreign language	3-5
general	3
second language	4
situation-specific	5
skills-based	34-36
specific	3
state	4
systems-based	37-41
trait	4
approach	
affective	44
behavioral	44
cognitive	44
cause	6-8
communication apprehension	11
consequences	20-22
construct	
competence-based	10
identity-based	10
factor	9-19
dynamic	
extra-lingual	9
impersonal	10
inter-lingual	9
inter-personal	10
intra-lingual	9
intra-personal	10
lingual	9

10
11
11-12
24-27
31
32
<i>37</i>
19
34
29
29
29
31, 58
37-40
60-61
34
34
41
42-54
42-54
58-61
<i>55-57</i>
42
42
46-54
20
11-12
37
36
34

Foreign Language Anxiety

2016

Z. Kráľová

References

- Aida, Y. (1994). Examination of Horwitz, Horwitz and Cope's construct of foreign language anxiety: The case of students of Japanese. *The Modern Language Journal*, 78, 155–167.
- Alrabai, F. (2015). The influence of teachers' anxiety-reducing strategies on learners' foreign language anxiety. *Innovation in Language and Teaching*, 9, 163–190.
- Al-Saraj, T. M. (2011). *Foreign Language Anxiety: What Is It?* Paper presented at 4th Bloomsbury Student Conference in Applied Linguistics. London: University of London.
- Al-Shboul, M. M., Ahmad, I. S., Nordin, M. S., & Rahman, Z. A. (2013). Foreign language anxiety and achievement: systematic review. *International Journal of English Linguistics*, 3, 32–45.
- Altan, M. Z. (2006). Beliefs about language learning of foreign language-major university students. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 31, 45–52.
- Argaman, O., & Abu-Rabia, S. (2002). The influence of language anxiety on English reading and writing tasks among native Hebrew speakers. *Language, Culture and Curriculum,* 15, 143–160.
- Arnold, J. (1999). *Affect in Language Learning*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Asher, J. (1977). Learning Another Language Through Actions: The Complete Teacher's Guide. Los Gatos, CA: Sky Oaks.
- Bailey, K. M. (1983). Competitiveness and anxiety in adult second language learning: Looking at and through the diary studies. In H. W. Seliger, & M. H.

- Long (Eds.), *Classroom Oriented Research in Second Language Acquisition* (pp. 67–102). Rowley: Newbury House.
- Baran-Łucarz, M. (2011). The relationship between language anxiety and the actual and perceived levels of foreign language pronunciation. *Studies in Second Language Learning and Teaching*, 1, 491–514.
- Baran-Łucarz, M. (2013). Phonetics learning anxiety results of a preliminary study. *Research in Language*, 11.1, 57–79.
- Baran-Łucarz, M. (2014). Pronunciation anxiety and willingness to communicate in the foreign language classroom. *Concordia Working Papers in Applied Linguistics*, 5, 36–49.
- Baran-Łucarz, M. (2016). Conceptualizing and measuring the construct of pronunciation anxiety. In M. Pawlak (Ed.), *Classroom-Oriented Research, Second Language Learning and Teaching* (pp. 39–56). Springer International Publishing.
- Beeman, P., Martin, R., & Meyers, J. (1972). Interventions in relation to anxiety in school. In C. D. Spielberger (Ed.), *Anxiety: Current Trends in Theory and Research* (pp. 40–50). New York: Academic Press.
- Bennett, M. J. (1998). Intercultural communication: A current perspective. In M. J. Bennett (Ed.), *Basic Concepts of Intercultural Communication: Selected Readings* (pp. 1 34). Boston, ME: Intercultural Press.
- Bilá, M. (2013). Perception and production of a second language and the concept of a foreign accent. *Journal of Interdisciplinary Philology*, 4, 85–96.

- Bowen, A. D. (2004). Overcoming the Fear of Speaking in a Foreign Language: A Study of the Role that Selected Humanistic Techniques Play in Reducing Language Anxiety Associated with Oral Performance in the TESOL Classroom. MA thesis. Pretoria: University of South Africa.
- Campbell, C. M. & Ortiz, J. A. (1991). Helping students overcome foreign language anxiety: A foreign language anxiety workshop. In E. K. Horwitz, & D. J. Young (Eds.), *Language Anxiety: From Theory and Research to Classroom Implications* (pp. 153–168). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Cattell, R. B., Cattell, A. K., & Cattell, H. E. P. (1997). *The Sixteen Personality Factor Questionnaire (16 PF)*. (5th ed.). Bratislava: Psychodiagnostika, a. s.
- Chang, H. C., Fang, W. C., Yang, B. H., Luo, B. R., Chew, S. W., & Chen, N. S. (2017). Examining the relationships between foreign language anxiety and attention during conversation tasks. In E. Popescu et al. (Eds.), *Innovations in Smart Learning* (pp. 1–11). Singapore: Springer Science + Business Media.
- Chastain, K. (1975). Affective and ability factors in second language acquisition. *Language Learning*, 25, 153–161.
- Cheng, Y., Horwitz, E. K., & Schallert, D. L. (1999). Language anxiety: Differentiating writing and speaking components. *Language Learning*, 49, 417–449.
- Cheng, Y. (2002). Factors associated with foreign language writing anxiety. *Foreign Language Annals*, 35, 647–656.
- Cinkara, E. (2016). Reflective practice and foreign language classroom anxiety: video-stimulated recall at

- work. Reflective Practice, 17, 694-707.
- Clarke, M. A. (1976). Second language acquisition as a clash of consciousness. *Language Learning*, 26, 377–389.
- Clément, R. (1986). Second language proficiency and acculturation: an investigation of the effects of language status and individual characteristics. *Journal of Language and Social Psychology*, 5, 271–290.
- Cohen, Y., & Norst, M. J. (1989). Fear, dependence and loss of self-esteem: Affective barries in second language learning among adults. *RELC Journal*, 20, 61–77.
- Cohn, M. A., & Frederickson, B. L. (2010). In search of durable positive psychology interventions: Predictors and consequences of long-term positive behavior change. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 5, 355–366.
- Coleman, P. T., & Deutsch, M. (2000). Cooperation, conflict resolution, and school violence: A systems approach. *Choices Briefs*, 5, 3–6.
- Crookall, D., & Oxford, R. L. (1991). Dealing with anxiety: Some practical activities for language learners and teacher trainees. In E. K. Horwitz, & D. J. Young (Eds.), *Language Anxiety: From Theory and Research to Classroom Implications* (pp. 141–150). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Curran, C. A. (1976). *Counselling-Learning in Second Languages*. Apple River, IL: Apple River Press.
- Daly, J. A., & Miller, M. (1975). The empirical development of an instrument to measure writing apprehension. *Research in the Teaching of English*, 9, 242–249.

- Daly, J. (1991). Understanding communication apprehension: An introduction for language educators. In E. K. Horwitz, & D. J. Young (Eds.), *Language Anxiety: From Theory and Research to Classroom Implications* (pp. 3–13). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Dewaele, J-M., Petrides, V., & Furnham, A. (2008). Effects of trait emotional intelligence and sociobiographical variables on communicative anxiety and foreign language anxiety among adult multilinguals: A review and empirical investigation. *Language Learning*, 58, 911–960.
- Dewaele, J-M., & Shan Ip, T. (2013). The link between foreign language classroom anxiety, second language tolerance of ambiguity and self-rated English proficiency among Chinese learners. *Studies in Second Language Learning and Teaching*, 3, 47–66.
- Dewaele, J-M., & MacIntyre, P. D. (2014). The two faces of Janus? Anxiety and enjoyment in the foreign language classroom. *Studies in Second Language Learning and Teaching*, 4, 237–273.
- Dewaele, J. M., MacIntyre, P., Boudreau, C., & Dewaele, L. (2016). Do girls have all the fun? Anxiety and enjoyment in the foreign language classroom. *Theory and Practice of Second Language Acquisition*, 2, 41–63.
- Dewaele, J. M., & MacIntyre, P. (2016). Foreign language enjoyment and foreign language classroom anxiety: The right and left feet of the language learners. In P. MacIntyre, T. Gregersen, & S. Mercer (Eds.), *Positive psychology in SLA* (pp. 215–236). Bristol: Multilingual Matters.
- Dixson, R. (1991). Listening Comprehension: Textual,

- Contextual, Cognitive, and Affective Considerations. Paper presented at the Annual Central States Conference on Language Teaching (23rd, Indianapolis, IN, March 21–24).
- Djigunovic, J. M. (2006). Language anxiety and language processing. In S. H. Foster-Cohen, M. M. Krajnovic, & J. M. Djigunovic (Eds.), *EUROSLA Yearbook 6* (pp. 191–212).
- Doubek, P., & Anders, M. (2013). *Generalizovaná* úzkostná porucha. Praha: Maxdorf.
- Dörney, Z. (2005). *The Psychology of the Language Learner: Individual Differences in Second Language Acquisition.* Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Dulay, H., & Burt, M. (1977). Remarks on creativity in language acquisition. In M. Burt, H. Dulay, & M. Finnochiaro (Eds.), *Viewpoints in English as a Second Language* (pp. 95–126). New York: Regents.
- *Dyslexia Basics.* (2012). Baltimore: The International Dyslexia Association.
- Ehrman, M. E., Leaver, B. L., & Oxford, R. L. (2003). A brief overview of individual differences in second language learning, *System*, 31, 313–330.
- Elkhafaifi, H. (2005). Listening comprehension and anxiety in the Arabic language classroom. *The Modern Language Journal*, 89, 206–220.
- Ellis, A. (2003). Early theories and practices of rational emotive behavior theory and how they have been augmented and revised during the last three decades. *Journal of Rational-Emotive & Cognitive-Behavior Therapy*, 21, 219–243.
- Eysenck, H. J. (1979). Anxiety, learning and memory: a reconceptualisation. *Journal of Research in Perso-*

- nality, 13, 363-385.
- Feyerabend, P. K. (1975). *Against Method: Outline of an Anarchistic Theory of Knowledge*. New York: Verso.
- Foss, K. A., & Reitzel, A. C. (1991). A relational model for managing second language anxiety. In E. K. Horwitz, & D. J. Young (Eds.), *Language Anxiety: From Theory and Research to Classroom Implications* (pp. 129–140). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Foreign Languages and Higher Education: New Structures for a Changed World. (2007). New York: Modern Language Association of America.
- Frederickson, B. L. (2003). The value of positive emotions. *American Scientist*, 91, 330–335.
- Fuller, G. D. (1978). Current status of biofeedback in clinical practice. *American Psychologist*, 38, 39–48.
- Gardner, R. C., Smythe, P. C., & Brunet, G. R. (1977). Intensive second language study: Effects on attitudes, motivation and French achievement. *Language Learning*, 27, 243–261.
- Gardner, R. C. (1985). The Attitude Motivation Test Battery: Technical Report 1. London: University of Western Ontario.
- Gardner, R. C., & MacIntyre, P. D. (1993). A student's contribution to second-language learning. Part II: Affective variables. *Language Teaching*, 26, 1–11.
- Goh, C. M. (2000). A cognitive perspective on language learners' listening comprehension problems. *System*, 28, 55–75.
- Grant, S., Huang, H., & Pasfield-Neofitou, S. (2014). The authenticity-anxiety paradox: The quest for authentic second language communication and re-

- duced foreign language anxiety in virtual environments. *Proceedia Technology*, 13, 23–32.
- Gregersen, T. S., & Horwitz, E. K. (2002). Language learning and perfectionism: Anxious and non-anxious language learners' reactions to their own oral performance. *Modern Language Journal*, 86, 562–570.
- Gregersen, T. S. (2003). To err es human: A reminder to teachers of language-anxious students. *Foreign Language Annals*, 36, 25–32.
- Guiora, A. Z. (1972). Construct validity and transpositional research: Toward an empirical study of psychoanalytic concepts. *Comprehension Psychology*, 13, 139–150.
- Guiora, A. Z., Beit-Hallahmi, B., Brannon, R. C. L., Dull, C. Y., & Scovel, T. (1972). The effects of experimentally induced changes in ego states on pronunciation ability in a second language: An exploratory study. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 13, 139–150.
- Guiora, A. Z. (1983). The dialectic of language acquisition. *Language Learning*, 33, 3–12.
- Hashemi M., & Abbasi M. (2013). The role of the teacher in alleviating anxiety in language classes. *International Journal of Applied and Basic Sciences*, 4, 640–646.
- Hauck M., & Hurd S. (2005). Exploring the link between language anxiety and learner self-management in open language learning contexts. *European Journal of Open, Distance and E-learning.*http://www.eurodl.org/materials/contrib/2005/Mirjam Hauck.pdf.
- Hembree, R. (1988). Correlates, causes, effects, and

- treatment of test anxiety. *Review of Educational Research*, 58, 47–77.
- Hilleson, M. (1996). I want to talk with them, but I don't want them to hear: An introspective study of second language anxiety in an English-medium school. In K. M. Bailey, & D. Nunan (Eds.), Voices from the language classroom. Qualitative research on language education (pp. 248-275). New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Hismanoglu, M., & Hismanoglu, S. (2010). Teachers' preferences of pronunciation teaching techniques: traditional or modern? *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 2, 983–989.
- Horváthová, B. (2013). *Methods in Researching and Teaching Language Learning Strategies*. Nitra: ASPA.
- Horwitz, E. K. (1983). *Beliefs about Language Learning Inventory*. Austin, Texas: University of Texas.
- Horwitz, E. K., Horwitz, M. B., & Cope, J. A. (1986). Foreign language classroom anxiety. *The Modern Language Journal*, 70, 125–132.
- Horwitz, E. K. (1986). Preliminary evidence for the reliability and validity of a Foreign Language Anxiety Scale. *TESOL Quarterly*, 20, 559–562.
- Horwitz, E. K. (1990). Attending to the affective domain in foreign language learning. In S. S. Magnan (Ed.), *Shifting the Instructional Focus to the Learner* (pp. 15–33). Middlebury: Northeast Conference on the Teaching of Foreign Languages.
- Horwitz E. K., & Young D. J. (1991). *Language Anxiety:* From Theory and Research to Classroom Implications. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Horwitz, E. K. (1996). Even teachers get the blues: Re-

- cognizing and alleviating teachers' feelings of foreign language anxiety. *Foreign Language Annals*, 29. 365–372.
- Horwitz, E. K. (2001). Language anxiety and achievement. *Annual Review of Applied Linguistics*, 21, 112–126.
- Horwitz E. K. (2016). Factor Structure of the Foreign Language Classroom Anxiety Scale: Comment on Park (2014). *Psychological Reports*, 119, 71–76.
- Ismail, N. M. (2016). The effectiveness of an engaging program to reduce Saudi female university EFL students' foreign language anxiety and to enhance their motivation to learn English at Taif University. *International Journal of Psychological Studies*, 8, 92–105.
- Kim, J. (2000). Foreign Language Listening Anxiety: A Study of Korean Students Learning English. Unpublished doctoral dissertation. Austin: The University of Texas.
- Kim, S.-Y., & Kim, J. (2004). When the learner becomes a teacher: Foreign language anxiety as an occupational hazard. *English Teaching*, 59, 165–184.
- Kitano, K. (2001). Anxiety in the college Japanese language classroom. *The Modern Language Journal*, 85, 549–566.
- Kleinmann, H. (1977). Avoidance behavior in adult second language acquisition. *Language Learning*, 27, 93–107.
- Koch, A. S., & Terrell, T. D. (1991). Affective reactions of foreign language students to natural approach activities and teaching techniques. In E. K. Horwitz, & D. J. Young (Eds.), *Language Anxiety: From Theory*

- and Research to Classroom Implications (pp. 109–126). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Kondo, D. S., & Ying-Ling, Y. (2004). Strategies for coping with language anxiety: the case of students of English in Japan. *ELT Journal*, 58, 258–265.
- Kráľová, Z. (2009). Faktory anglickej fónickej kompetencie [Factors of English Phonic Competence]. Žilina: EDIS.
- Kráľová, Z. (2010). Kvalitatívna aproximácia v systéme slovenských a anglických krátkych vokálov [Qualitative Approximation in the System of Slovak and English Short Vowels]. Ústí nad Labem: Pedagogická fakulta Univerzity J. E. Purkyně v Ústí nad Labem.
- Kráľová, Z. (2011). The correlation of extraversion and L2 pronunciation quality. In S. Pokrivčáková (Ed.), *Current Issues in Teaching Foreign Languages* (pp. 162–191). Brno: Masaryk University.
- Kráľová, Z., Škorvagová, E., Tirpáková, A., & Markechová, D. (forthcoming). Reducing student teachers' foreign language pronunciation anxiety through psycho-social training.
- Krashen, S. D. (1981). *Second Language Acquisition and Second Language Learning*. Oxford: Pergamon Press.
- Krashen, S. D., & Terrell, T. D. (1983). *The Natural Approach*. San Francisco: The Alemany Press.
- Krashen, S. D. (1985). *The Input Hypothesis: Issues and Implications*. Torrance, CA: Loredo Publishing.
- Kunt, N. (1997). Anxiety and beliefs about language learning: A study of Turkish-speaking university students learning English in North Cyprus. Unpublished doctoral dissertation. Austin: The University of

Texas.

- Kunt, N., & Tüm, D. O. (2010). Non-feelings of foreign language anxiety. *Procedia, Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 2, 4672–4676.
- LeDoux, J. (1996). *The Emotional Brain*. New York: Simon and Schuster.
- Lee, E. J. (2016). Reducing international graduate students' language anxiety through oral pronunciation corrections. *System*, 56, 78–95.
- Lev-Ari, S., & Keysar, B. (2010). Why don't we believe non-native speakers? The influence of accent on credibility. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 46, 1093–1096.
- Liu, M., & Zhang, X. (2013). An Investigation of Chinese university students' foreign language anxiety and English learning motivation. *English Linguistics Research*, 2, 1–13.
- Lord, G. (2005). Can we teach foreign language pronunciation? On the effects of a Spanish phonetics course. *Hispania*, 88, 557–567.
- Lozanov, G. (1979). Suggestology and Outlines of Suggestopedia. New York: Gordon & Breach.
- Lu, Z., & Liu, M. (2011). Foreign language anxiety and strategy use: A study with Chinese undergraduate EFL learners. *Journal of Language Teaching and Research*, 2, 1298–1305.
- MacInytre, P. D., & Gardner R. C. (1989). Anxiety and language learning: Towards a theoretical clarification. *Language Learning*, 39, 251–75.
- MacIntyre, P. D., & Gardner, R. C. (1991). Language anxiety: Its relation to other anxieties and topprocessing in native and second languages. *Lan-*

- guage Learning, 41, 513-534.
- MacIntyre, P. D., & Gardner, R. C. (1994). The subtle effects of language anxiety on cognitive processing in the second language. *Language Learning*, 44, 283–305.
- MacIntyre, P. D. (1995). How does anxiety affect second language learning? A Reply to Sparks and Ganschow. *The Modern Language Journal*, 79, 90–99.
- MacIntyre, P. D., Clément, R., Dörney, Z. M., & Noels, K. A. (1998). Conceptualizing willingness to communicate in a L2: a situational model of L2 confidence and affiliation. *The Modern Language Journal*, 82, 545–562.
- MacIntyre, P. D. (1999). Language anxiety: a review of the research for language teachers. In D. J. Young (Ed.), Affect in Foreign Language and Second Language Learning: A Practical Guide to Creating a Low-Anxiety Classroom Atmosphere (pp. 24–45). Boston: McGraw-Hill.
- MacIntyre, P. D. (2007). Willingness to communicate in the second language: Understanding the decision to speak as a volitional process. *The Modern Language Journal*, 91, 564–576.
- MacIntyre, P. D., Gregersen, T., & Mercer S. (2016). *Positive Psychology in SLA*. Bristol: Multilingual Matters.
- Malá, E., Gadušová, Z., & Zelenický, Ľ. (2008). New Competencies in Slovak Teacher Training Programmes. In *Teacher Education Policy in Europe : a Voice of Higher Education Institution* (pp. 313-324). Umea : University of Umea.
- Matsuda, S., & Gobel, P. (2004). Anxiety and predictors of performance in the foreign language classroom.

- System, 32, 21-36.
- Matsumoto, D., Kudoh, T., Scherer, K., & Wallbott, H. (1988). Antecedents of and reactions to emotions in the United States and Japan. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 19, 267–286.
- McCoy, I. R. (1979). Means to overcome the anxieties of second language learners. *Foreign Language Annals*, 12, 185–189.
- McCroskey, J. C. (1984). The communication apprehension perspective. In J. Daly, & J. McCroskey (Eds.), *Avoiding Communication: Shyness, Reticence, and Communication Apprehension*. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Mejías, H., Applebaum, R. L., Applebaum, S. J., & Trotter, R. T. (1991). Oral communication apprehension and Hispanics: An exploration of oral communication apprehension among Mexican American students in Texas. In E. K. Horwitz, & D. J. Young (Eds.), Language Anxiety: From Theory and Research to Classroom Implications (pp. 87–97). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Merriam-Webster Thesaurus www.merriam-webster.com
- Morton, L. L., Vesco, R., Williams, N. H., & Awender, M. A. (1997). Student teacher anxieties related to class management, pedagogy, evaluation, and staff relations. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 67, 69–89.
- Nagahashi, T. L. (2007). *Techniques for Reducing Foreign Language Anxiety: Results of a Successful Intervention study.* Akita City: Akita University Press.
- Numrich, C. (1996). On becoming a language teacher:

- Insights from diary studies. *TESOL Quarterly*, 30, 131–151.
- Nunan, D. (1991). Communicative tasks and the language curriculum. *TESOL Quarterly*, 25, 279–295.
- Oh, J. (1992). The effects of L2 reading assessment methods on anxiety level. *TESOL Quarterly*, 26, 172–76.
- Ohata, K. (2005). Potential sources of anxiety for Japanese learners of English: Preliminary case interviews with five Japanese college students in the U.S. *TESL-EJ*, 9, 1–21.
- Olivares-Cuhat, G. (2010). Relative importance of learning variables on L2 performance. *Linguistik Online*, 43, 99–116.
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., Bailey, P., & Daley, C. E. (1999). Factors associated with foreign language anxiety. *Applied Psycholinguistics*, 20, 217–239.
- Onwuegbuzie, A. J., Bailey, P., & Daley, C. E. (2000). Cognitive, effective, personality and demographic predictors of foreign language achievement. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 94, 3–15.
- Oxford, R. L. (1990). *Language Learning Strategies:* What Every Teacher Should Know. New York: Newbury House/Harper & Row.
- Oxford, R. L. (2015). How language learners can improve their emotional functioning: Important psychological and psychospiritual theories. *Applied Language Learning*, 25, 1–15.
- Oxford, R. L. (2016). Toward a psychology of well-being for language learners: The "EMPHATIC" vision. In P. D. MacIntyre, T. Gregersen, & S. Mercer (Eds.), *Positive Psychology in SLA* (pp. 10–87). Bristol: Multi-

- lingual Matters.
- Pae, T. I. (2013). Skill-based L2 anxieties revisited: Their intra-relations and the inter-relations with general foreign language anxiety. *Applied Linguistics*, 34, 232–252.
- Pappamihiel, N. E. (2002). English as a second language students and English language anxiety: Issues in the mainstream classroom. *Research in the Teaching of English*, 36, 327–356.
- Paradowski, M., Dmowska, K., & Czasak, D. (2015). Conquering foreign language anxiety related to speaking. In M. B. Paradowski (Ed.), *Productive Foreign Language Skills for an Intercultural World. A Guide (not only) for Teachers* (pp. 33–62). Frankfurt am Main: Peter Lang.
- Park, H., & Lee, A. R. (2005). *L2 Learners' Anxiety; Self-Confidence and Oral Performance*. Paper presented at The Pan-Pacific Association of Applied Linguistics (PAAL), Japan.
- Peacock, M. (2001). Pre-service ESL teachers' beliefs about second language learning: a longitudinal study. *System*, 29, 177–195.
- Phillips, E. M. (1992). The effects of language anxiety on students' oral test performances and attitudes. *The Modern Language Journal*, 76, 14–25.
- Polk, R. K. (2000). Social Responsibility. Developing competence. *Society*, 24, 40–43.
- Positive Youth Development. (2014). Washington, D.C.: Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.
- Price, M. L. (1991). The subjective experience of foreign language anxiety: Interviews with highly anxious

- students. In E. K. Horwitz, & D. J. Young (Eds.), *Language Anxiety: From Theory and Research to Class-room Implications* (pp. 101–108). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Ratanasiripong, P., Sverduk, K., Hayashino, D., & Prince, J. (2010). Setting up the next generation biofeedback program for stress and anxiety management for college students: A simple and cost effective approach. *College Student Journal*, 44, 97–100.
- Robinson, L., Segal, R., Segal, J., & Smith, M. (2015). *Relaxation Techniques for Stress Relief.* http://www.helpguide.org/articles/stress/relaxation-techniques-for-stress-relief.htm.
- Saito, Y., & Samimy, K. K. (1996). Foreign language anxiety and language performance: A study of learner anxiety in beginning, intermediate, and advanced-level college students of Japanese. *Foreign Language Annals*, 29, 239–251.
- Saito, Y., Horwitz, E. K., & Garza, T. J. (1999). Foreign language reading anxiety. *The Modern Language Journal*, 83, 202–218.
- Sarason, I. G. (1978). The test anxiety scale: Concept and research. In C. D. Spielberg, & I. G. Sarason (Eds.), *Stress and Anxiety* (pp. 193–216). Washington, D.C.: Hemisphere.
- Schumann, J. H. (1978). The acculturation model for second language acquisition. In R. C. Gingras (Ed.), *Second Language Acquisition and Foreign Language Teaching* (pp. 26–50). Arington, VA: Center for Applied Linguistics.
- Scovel, T. (1978). The effect of affect: A review of anxiety literature. *Language Learning*, 28, 129–142.

- Scovel, T. (1991). The effect of affect on foreign language learning: A review of the anxiety research. In E. K. Horwitz, & D. J. Young (Eds.), *Language Anxiety: From Theory and Research to Classroom Implications* (pp. 15–24). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Seligman, M. E. P. (2011). Flourish: A Visionary New Understanding of Happiness and Well-Being. New York: Atria/Simon and Schuster.
- Sellers, V. D. (2000). Anxiety and reading comprehension in Spanish as a foreign language. *Foreign Language Annals*, 33, 512–521.
- Shams, A. N. (2005). The Use of Computerized Pronunciation Practice in the Reduction of Foreign Language Classroom Anxiety. Doctoral dissertation. Tallahassee: Florida State University.
- Sheen, Y. (2007). The effectis of corrective feedback, language aptitude and learner attitudes on the acquisition of English articles. In A. Mackey (Ed.), Conversational Interaction in Second Language Acquisition: A Collection of Empirical Studies (pp. 301–322). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Siagto-Wakat, G. (2016). Doodling the nerves: Surfacing language anxiety experiences in an English language classroom. *RELC Journal*, July 15.
- Smith, R. E., Sarason, I. G., & Sarason, B. R. (1982). *Psychology: The Frontiers of Behavior*. New York: Harper & Row.
- Sparks, R. L., & Ganschow, L. (1991). Foreign language learning differences: Affective or native language aptitude differences? *The Modern Language Journal*, 75, 3–16.

- Sparks, R. L., Ganschow, L., & Javorsky, J. (2000). Deja vu all over again: A response to Saito, Horwitz, and Garza. *The Modern Language Journal*, 84, 251 255.
- Sparks, R., & Young, D. J. (2009). Language learning and disabilities, anxiety and special needs. *Foreign Language Annals*, 42.
- Spielberger, C. D., Gorsuch, R. L., & Lushene, R. E. (1970). *The State-Trait Anxiety Inventory: Test Manual.* Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologist Press.
- Spielberger, C. D. (1972). Conceptual and methodological issues in anxiety research. In C. D. Spielberger (Ed.), *Anxiety: Current Trend in Theory and Research* (Vol. 2). New York: Academic Press.
- Spielberger, C. D. (1980). *Test Anxiety Inventory: Preliminary Professional Manual*. Menlo Park, CA: Mind Garden.
- Spielberger, C. D. (1983). *Manual for the State-Trait Anxiety (From Y)*. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press.
- Spitalli, E. J. (2000). The Relationship between Foreign Language Anxiety and Attitudes toward Multiculturalism in High-School Students. Master thesis. Lisle, IL: Benedictine University.
- Steinberg, F. S., & Horwitz, E. K. (1986). The effect of induced anxiety on the denotative and interpretative content of second language speech. *TESOL Quarterly*, 20, 131–136.
- Stranovská, E. et al. (2013). *Intervencia v učení sa cudziemu jazyku*. Praha: Verbum.
- Szyszka, M. (2011). Foreign language anxiety and selfperceived pronunciation competence. *Studies in Second Language Learning and Teaching*, 1, 283–

300.

- Škorvagová, E. (2015). Preventívne a intervenčné programy v kontexte sociálno-patologických javov – preventívny program Slnečnice nádeje. (Sociálnopatologické javy). Žilina: EDIS.
- Tanveer, M. (2007). *Investigations of the Factors that Cause Language Anxiety for ESL/EFL Learners in Learning Speaking Skills and the Influence it Casts on Communication in the Target Language*. Unpublished thesis. Glasgow: University of Glasgow.
- Tobias, S. (1986). Anxiety and cognitive processing of instruction. In R. Schwarzer (Ed.), *Self-Related Cognition in Anxiety and Motivation* (pp. 35–54). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Topping, K., Holmes, E., & Bremner, W. (2000). The effectiveness of school-based programs for the promotion of social competence. In R. Bar-On, & J. D. A. Parker (Eds.), *The Handbook of Emotional Intelligence: Theory, Development, Assessment, and Application at Home, School, and in the Workplace* (pp. 411–432). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Tran, T. T. T. (2012). A review of Horwitz, Horwitz and Cope' theory of foreign language anxiety and the challenges to the theory. *English Language Teaching*, 5, 69–75.
- Tran, T. T., Moni, K., & Baldauf, R. B. Jr. (2012). Foreign language anxiety and its effect on students' determination to study English: To abandon or not to abandon? In R. Jackson (Ed.), *TESOL in Context: Special Edition S3* (pp. 1–14). Leichhardt: Australian Council of TESOL Associations.
- Tsiplakides, I., & Keramida, A. (2009). Helping students

- overcome foreign language speaking anxiety in the English classroom: Theoretical issues and practical recommendations. *International Education Studies*, 2, 39–44.
- VanPatten, B., & Glass, W. R. (1999). Grammar learning as a source of language anxiety: A discussion. In D. J. Young, (Ed.), Affect in Foreign Language and Second Language Learning: A Practical Guide to Creating a Low-Anxiety Classroom Atmosphere (pp. 89–105). Boston: McGraw-Hill.
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). *Mind in Society*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Walton, J. M. (1981). Biofeedback: A proposed model for the treatment of teacher anxiety. *The Personnel and Guidance Journal*, 59–62.
- Wei, J. (2014). A Study via interviews of the Chinese Bouyei College learners' EFL classroom anxiety arousals. *Journal of Language Teaching and Research*, 5, 419–428.
- White, C. J. (2003). *Language Learning in Distance Education*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Williams, K. E., & Andrade, M. R. (2008). Foreign language learning anxiety in Japanese EFL university classes: causes, coping, and locus of control. *Electronic Journal of Foreign Language Teaching*, 5, 181–191.
- Wilson, R., & Dewaele, J.-M. (2010). The use of web questionnaires in second language acquisition and bilingual research. *Second Language Research*, 26, 103–123.
- Wittgenstein, L. (1961). *Tractatus Logico-Philosophicus*. Translation D. F. Pears and B. F. McGuinness. Lon-

- don: Routledge and Kegan Paul.
- Woodrow, L. (2006). Anxiety and speaking English as a second language. *RELC Journal*, 37, 308–328.
- Wörde, V. R. (2003). Students' perspectives on foreign language anxiety. *Inquiry*, 8. http://www.vccaedu.org/inquiry/inquiry-spring2003/i-81-worde.html
- Yan, X. (1998). An Examination of Foreign Language Classroom Anxiety: Its Sources and Effects in a College English Program in China. Unpublished doctorral dissertation, University of Texas, Austin.
- Yan, J. X., & Wang, P. (2001). The impact of language anxiety on students' Mandarin learning in Hong Kong. *Language Teaching and Research*, 6, 1–7.
- Yon Yim, S. (2014). An anxiety model for EFL young learners: A path analysis. *System*, 42, 344–454.
- Young, D. J. (1986). The relationship between anxiety and foreign language oral proficiency ratings. In E. K. Horwitz, & D. J. Young (Eds.), *Language Anxiety: From Theory and Research to Classroom Implications* (pp. 57–63). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Young, D. J. (1990). An investigation of students' perspectives on anxiety and speaking. *Foreign Language Annals*, 23, 539–553.
- Young, D. J. (1991). Creating a low-anxiety classroom environment: What does the anxiety research suggest? *The Modern Language Journal*, 75, 426–439.
- Young, D. J. (1999). Affect in Foreign Language and Second Language Learning: A Practical Guide to Creating a Low-Anxiety Classroom Atmosphere. Boston: McGraw-Hill.

Zhai, L. (2015). Influence of anxiety on English listening comprehension: An investigation based on the freshmen of English majors. *Studies in Literature and Language*, 11, 40–47.

Foreign Language Anxiety

Zdena Kráľová

Recenzenti:

prof. PhDr. Eva Malá, CSc. doc. PhDr. Magdaléna Bilá, CSc.

Rozsah: 88 s. (3,14 AH)

Formát: A5 Náklad: 100 ks

Vydavateľ: Pedagogická fakulta UKF v Nitre

Rok vydania: 2016

ISBN 978-80-558-1125-3 EAN 9788055811253